
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Summons  
and 

Agenda 
 

Monday 15 July 2019 

 
Managing Director 
Friday 5 July 2019 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

 
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
 

To: All Members of the Dartford Borough Council 
 

A meeting of the Council will be held on: 
 

Date:  Monday 15 July 2019 
Time:  7.00 pm 
Venue: Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
The Agenda is set out below: 

 
A G E N D A  

1. Prayers: Reverend Helen Reeves   
 

2. Apologies for Absence  
 

 
 

 To receive apologies for absence 
 

 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 

 
 

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Managing Director. 
 

 

4. Minutes  
 

(Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 To approve the minutes of the Annual Council Meeting held on 
22nd May 2019 as an accurate record. 
 

 

5. Mayor's Announcements   
 

6. Leader's Announcements  
 

 
 

 To receive announcements from the Leader of the Council 
 

 

7. Questions from Political Group Leaders  
 

 
 

 To consider any questions (from the Political Group Leaders) to 
the Leader/Cabinet submitted in accordance with Standing Order 
14. 

 



8. Motions  
 

 
 

 To consider any Motions submitted in accordance with Standing 
Order 10. 
 

 

9. Urgent Items  
 

 
 

 The Mayor will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items. 
 

 

To consider any reports to the General Assembly of Council by other Committees, Boards, 
Panels and Officers. 

10. References from other Committees (if any)   
 

11. Work Plan for the General Assembly of the Council 2019/20  
 

(Pages 11 - 14) 
 

 To consider and agree the proposed Work Plan for the General 
Assembly of the Council for 2019/20. 
 

 

12. Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018/19  
 

(Pages 15 - 34) 
 

 To consider the Annual Report of the Scrutiny Committee for 
2018/19. 
 

 

13. Members' Allowances - Update  
 

 
 

 To provide an update on the current level of Member’s 
Allowances and to consider a new Special Responsibility 
Allowance for the Chairman of the newly created Strategic 
Housing Board. 
 

 

14. Reserved Minutes  (Pages 35 - 58) 
 

 To consider any of the minutes of the following Cabinet meetings 
reserved in accordance with Standing Order 16; 
 
(a) for full debate by Political Groups on the Council; 
(b) by Ward Members.  
 
Cabinet 
 
24 January 2019 
7 March 2019 
11 April 2019 
13 June 2019 
 

 



 
  

 
 
 

Graham Harris 
Managing Director 

  

  





1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ANNUAL COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of the proceedings of the meeting of the Annual Council held on 
Wednesday 22 May 2019. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

 

 

The Mayor Councillor R S L Perfitt 

The Deputy Mayor Councillor R M Currans 
 
 

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor I D Armitt JP 
Councillor A E D Barham 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor D Butler 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor Paul Cutler 
Councillor M J Davis 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor S N Gosine 
Councillor R Gosine 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor D A Hammock 
Councillor P M Harman 
Councillor D E Hunnisett 
 

Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor C S McLean 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor A J Oakley-Dow 
Councillor V Oguntope 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor M I Peters 
Councillor L J Reynolds 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor C J Shippam 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
Councillor D Swinerd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

 

Councillor D J Reynolds 
 
 

 
 

1. WELCOME  
 
The Mayor, Councillor D J Mote formally welcomed Members, Guests, 
Officers and members of the public to the Annual Council meeting. 
 
 



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

2. ELECTION OF THE WORSHIPFUL THE MAYOR OF DARTFORD FOR THE 
ENSUING YEAR AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE MAYORESS AND 
MAYOR'S CHAPLAIN  
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor J A Kite MBE, nominated Councillor R S 
L Perfitt to be elected as Mayor of the Borough of Dartford for the next 
Municipal Year.  The nomination was seconded by Councillor C J Shippam. 
 
There being no further nominations Councillor R S l Perfitt was duly elected 
the Worshipful the Mayor of the Borough of Dartford, for the 2019 - 2020 
Municipal Year. 
 
Following his election, Councillor Perfitt made his declaration of acceptance of 
office. 
 
The meeting then adjourned for a short period. 
 

THE WORSHIPFUL THE MAYOR 
COUNCILLOR R S L PERFITT IN THE CHAIR 

 
The new Mayor thanked his colleagues and all Members for electing him as 
Mayor of the Borough for the forthcoming municipal year and said he would 
endeavour to be fair in all matters he was called upon to do.  
 
The Mayor announced that Mrs Stephanie Perfitt would be his Mayoress for 
the ensuing Municipal Year and invited her to come to the front of the dais 
where she was invested with the Mayoress’ badge and chain of office. 
 
The Mayor also informed the meeting that he had appointed Reverend Helen 
Reeves as his personal Chaplain during his term of office, and invited 
Reverend Reeves to come to the front of the dais where she was invested 
with the Chaplain’s Cross by the outgoing Chaplain Reverend Andrew Avery. 
 

3. PRAYERS - MAYOR'S CHAPLAIN  
 
The Reverend Reeves led the Council in prayer 
 

4. APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR FOR THE ENSUING YEAR AND 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE DEPUTY MAYORESS  
 
The Mayor announced that Councillor Mrs Rosanna Currans would be Deputy 
Mayor of the Borough for the 2019 - 2020 Municipal Year.  
 
Councillor Currans made her declaration of acceptance of office and was 
invested with the Chain of Office.  Councillor Mrs Currans informed the 
meeting that Mrs Corina Bailey would be her Escort and duly invested her 
with the badge of Office. 
 

5. VOTE OF THANKS TO THE RETIRING MAYOR IN RESPECT OF 
SERVICES RENDERED DURING THE PAST YEAR  
 
The Mayor invited the Leader of the Council, Councillor J A Kite MBE to 
propose a vote of thanks to the retiring Mayor.  



ANNUAL COUNCIL 
 

WEDNESDAY 22 MAY 2019 
 
 

3 

 
Councillor Kite firstly congratulated the newly elected Mayoral Party and 
wished them well in the forthcoming year. 
 
Councillor Kite passed his congratulations to the retiring Mayor stressing that 
it was an obvious feature of his Mayoralty that he and his wife were a close 
knit team and that both became fully immersed in the role. 
 
It was apparent that the Councillor Mote and his wife had adopted a 
thoroughly modern approach to the role with great use of social media to 
convey his messages to the people of Dartford. 
 
Councillor Kite also drew Members’ attention to the smiling face which the 
Mayor always projected in his work and commended the importance of this 
when dealing with people at the many Mayoral engagements. 
 
Finally Councillor Kite thanked Councillor and Mrs Mote for their hospitable 
and enjoyable Mayoralty and expressed the belief that it would be welcomed 
should they wish to undertake the role in the future. 
 

Councillor Shippam seconded the motion of thanks. 

The Leader of the Labour Group, Councillor Gosine, expressed his best 
wishes to the new Mayor and his Mayoral party.  

Councillor Maddison thanked the outgoing Mayor and Mayoress for what had 
been a fun and enjoyable term of office for the people of Dartford and 
congratulated him on retaining his seat in Greenhithe in the face of stiff 
opposition. 

The Leader of the Swanscombe and Greenhithe Residents Association, 
Councillor Butterfill, congratulated the incoming Mayor, Councillor Perfitt and 
his wife and the incoming Deputy Mayor Councillor, Mrs Currans, and her 
Escort on their election to office.    

She also thanked Councillor Mote and his wife for their hard work and sense 
of humour as the Mayoral team and praised their energy and endeavour and 
the success of their fundraising. 

 

At the conclusion of the speeches the Motion was put to the vote and it was 

RESOLVED: 

That sincere thanks and appreciation be accorded to Councillor D J Mote for 
his outstanding service as Mayor during the past year.  

 

The Leader of the Council, Councillor J A Kite, presented Councillor Mote with 
a gift of some vouchers on behalf of the Council in recognition of his service 
as the Mayor.    



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The Shadow Leader, Councillor S Gosine then presented a bouquet of 
flowers to the outgoing Mayoress, Mrs Mote. 

 
The Mayor, Councillor Perfitt then invited Councillor Mote to respond to the 
vote of thanks from Members. 
 
Councillor Mote began by congratulating the incoming Mayor, his Mayoress, 
the Deputy Mayor and her Escort on their election to office.  
 
He also thanked all those present for attending and offered special thanks to 
the newly invested Mayor and Mayoress of Gravesham for finding the time to 
attend the meeting. 
 
Councillor Mote thanked Members for the gift with which had been presented, 
and stressed that the vouchers would be put to very good use.   
 
He extended his thanks to his support staff, and the supporters of his charity, 
who had raised over £16,000, to his colleagues, and mostly to his wife who 
had worked tirelessly to support and aid him throughout his Mayoral Year. 
 
He also extended thanks to the Leader and Shadow Leader of the Council 
and to all Councillors for allowing him to undertake the role of Mayor.  He had 
enjoyed his year immensely. 
 

6. PRESENTATION OF A PAST MAYOR'S BADGE  
 
The Mayor invited Councillor Mote to the front of the dais where he was 
presented with his past Mayor’s badge. 
 

7. TO RECEIVE ANY DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST MEMBERS MAY WISH 
TO MAKE  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

8. TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor D J Reynolds 
 

9. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite MBE and seconded by Councillor C J 
Shippam and 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 
That the Minutes of the General Assembly of the Council held on 14 January 
2019 and the General Assembly of the Council (Budget) held on 25 February 
2019 be confirmed as accurate records of those meetings. 
 
 
 



ANNUAL COUNCIL 
 

WEDNESDAY 22 MAY 2019 
 
 

5 

10. TO NOTE THE RESULTS OF THE ELECTIONS HELD ON 2 MAY 2019  
 
The Managing Director, Mr Graham Harris, announced the results of the Local 
Government Elections which had taken place on 2 May 2019 and which were 
set out in the Agenda for the meeting. 
 
Arising from the report of the results Councillor Kite addressed the Council. 
 
He firstly reviewed the composition of the Council and noted that there had 
been a large turnover in Members in the Chamber with a number of 
retirements and some notable Members losing their seats.  He thanked all of 
those who had left the Council and welcomed both the new Councillors and 
the Members re - joining the Council after a period of absence. 
 
Councillor Kite then spoke of a number of former Members, Councillors 
Jonathon Hawkes – the former Leader of the Labour Group and Keith Kelly – 
the former Cabinet Member, both of whom had lost their seats in 
unexpectedly at the election.  He thanked them both for their service to the 
Borough and commented that they had both accepted defeat with good grace.   
 
In conclusion Councillor Kite drew Members’ attention to the retirement of two 
stalwart members. 
 
Councillor Pat Coleman had retired from the Council having served as a 
Member for 44 years.  He had served both in opposition and in power as both 
a back bench member and in Cabinet.  He was a great servant to the 
Borough, and Councillor Kite took the opportunity to announce that it was 
planned to invest Councillor Coleman as an Honorary Freeman of the 
Borough at some time in the forthcoming year. 
 
In response to this Councillor Coleman thanked all Members past and present 
for their help and stated that he had enjoyed his time as a Councillor and felt 
privileged to have served the people of Dartford for as long as he had. 
 
Councillor Kite then moved on to speak about former Councillor Bryan Read 
who had chosen not to contest this election. 
Bryan Read had served as a Councillor for 36 years, and had been 
instrumental in formulating the coalition which had bought the current 
administration to power in 2003.   
 
He was recognised as a man of great honesty, integrity and experience and 
his retirement deprived the Swanscombe and Greenhithe Residents’ 
Association of a great Member. 
 
In reply Councillor Sacha Gosine, the new Leader of the Labour Group, 
congratulated the Conservative Group for their success in the recent elections 
and announced that, on the positive side his Group had gained three new 
seats, but on the negative they had lost their former leader Councillor 
Jonathon Hawkes.   
 



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

Councillor Gosine concluded that he was looking forward to working with 
Councillor Kite in order to improve Dartford for the good of all residents. 
 
Councillor Sue Butterfill, the Leader of the Swanscombe and Greenhithe 
Residents Association said that she was very proud to be elected as a 
Councillor again and expressed her sadness that the former Group leader had 
chosen to stand down.  Councillor Butterfill also paid tribute to former 
Councillor Read, recognising his experience and leadership over his long time 
in office. 
 
 

11. TO APPOINT THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
 
The Mayor invited nominations for the role of Leader of the Council for the 
following four year term. 
 
Councillor Shippam nominated Councillor Kite to be elected as Leader of the 
Council for the next four years and Councillor Lloyd seconded the proposal. 
 
There being no further nominations it was  
 

RESOLVED 
 
That Councillor J A Kite MBE be elected Leader of the Council for a four year 
term - until the May 2023 Annual Meeting - unless he resigned from office, is 
suspended from being a Councillor, is no longer a councillor, is removed from 
Office by a resolution of the Council, or is otherwise disqualified by Law. 
 
Councillor Kite thanked the Council for his election and noted that there 
seemed to be a willingness from all parties in the Chamber today to work 
together for all Dartford residents.  He stressed that the borough had a high 
quality Officer corps that worked hard to achieve the corporate aims and he 
wished all Members good luck in their endeavours for the forthcoming 
Municipal Year.    
 

12. TO NOTE THE APPOINTMENT OF THE DEPUTY LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL  
 
Councillor Kite announced the appointment of Councillor C J Shippam as 
Deputy Leader of the Council for a four year term - until the May 2023 Annual 
Meeting - unless he resigned from office, is suspended from being a 
Councillor, is no longer a councillor, is removed from Office by the Leader of 
the Council, or is otherwise disqualified by Law. 
 

13. TO NOTE THE ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE SHADOW LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL, GROUP LEADERS AND THEIR DEPUTIES  
 

The Mayor announced that Councillors S Gosine and L H K Edie of the 
Labour Group would hold the offices of Shadow Leader and Deputy Shadow 
Leader of the Council respectively. 



ANNUAL COUNCIL 
 

WEDNESDAY 22 MAY 2019 
 
 

7 

The Mayor further announced that Councillors S Butterfill and A Barham 
would be the Leader and Deputy Leader respectively, of the Swanscombe 
and Greenhithe Residents’ Association. 

 
14. TO RECEIVE AND NOTE THE SIZE OF THE CABINET AND TO 

ALLOCATE ALL EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS TO THE CABINET AND 
DETERMINE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE CABINET AND TO 
ALLOCATE ALL EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS TO THE CABINET AND 
DETERMINE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE CABINET (APPENDIX 
A)  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite MBE, seconded by Councillor Shippam, 
and 

 
 RESOLVED: 

 
(1) That the size of the Cabinet be set at seven members; 
 
(2) That functions be allocated to the Cabinet as a body with the Terms of    

Reference set out in Appendix A to the agenda. 
 
 

15. TO RECEIVE AND NOTE THE APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE 
CABINET (APPENDIX B)  
 

The Mayor, in accordance with Section 11(3) (b) of the Local Government Act 
2000, called upon the Leader to announce the membership of the Cabinet, 
their portfolios and other Lead Members. 

The Leader advised that for the ensuing year, the Cabinet Members would be: 
Councillors J A Kite, C J Shippam, Mrs A D Allen, S H Brown, A R Lloyd, Mrs 
P A Thurlow and R J Wells with himself as Chairman and Councillor Shippam 
as Vice Chairman and with the portfolios set out in Appendix B to the agenda.  

The Leader also advised that Cabinet would be supported by the Cabinet 
Delivery Teams with Lead Members as set out in Appendix B to the Agenda.  

 
16. TO RECEIVE AND NOTE THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE DEED, TRUST 

AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ACT 2000, ITS MEMBERSHIP, FUNCTIONS AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 
(APPENDIX C)  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite MBE, seconded by Councillor C J 
Shippam, and 
 

RESOLVED: 
  

That the Deed, Trust and Obligations Committee be established under the 
provisions of the Local Government Act 2000 and that the appointments as to 



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

membership, and the appointment of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman and 
the Terms of Reference, be as set out in Appendix C to the agenda.   
 
 

17. TO NOTE THE APPOINTMENT OF THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE, CHIEF 
FINANCE OFFICER AND THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 
The Mayor announced that Mr Graham John Harris would be the Head of 
Paid Service that Mrs Sarah Jane Martin would be the Chief Finance Officer 
and that Mrs Sheralyn Ann Green would be the Monitoring Officer. 
 

18. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Mayor announced that the Eleanor Hospice would be his nominated 
Charity for his year in Office. 
 

19. TO CONFIRM THE SIZE AND MEMBERSHIP OF THE POLITICAL 
GROUPS ON THE COUNCIL (APPENDIX D)  
 
The details of the size and membership of political groups formed by 
Members of the Council were presented.  The Political Groups on the Council 
comprise the Dartford Borough Council Conservative Group (29), Labour 
Group (10) and the Swanscombe and Greenhithe Residents’ Association (3).  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the size and membership of political groups formed by members of the 
Council, attached at Appendix D to the agenda, be noted. 
 

20. TO ADOPT THE RULES FOR SUBSTITUTION FOR COMMITTEES, SUB-
COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS (APPENDIX E)  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam 
and; 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 

That the Rules for Substitution on Standing Committees, Boards and Panels, 
set out in Appendix E be adopted. 
 

21. TO ANNOUNCE THE STRUCTURE OF THE OTHER GROUPS ON THE 
COUNCIL AND THE ALLOCATIONS/DISTRIBUTION OF 
RESPONSIBILITIES (APPENDIX F)  
 
The Mayor announced that the structure of the Labour Group and the 
allocation/distribution of responsibilities would be as set out in Appendix F to 
the agenda 
 

22. TO CONSIDER AND AGREE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL (APPENDIX G)  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite seconded by Councillor C J Shippam, and 
 



ANNUAL COUNCIL 
 

WEDNESDAY 22 MAY 2019 
 
 

9 

 RESOLVED: 
 

That the terms of reference for the General Assembly of the Council, set out 
in Appendix G to the agenda, be agreed. 
 
 

23. TO CONSIDER AND ESTABLISH COMMITTEES, SUB-COMMITTEES, 
BOARDS, PANELS AND OTHER BODIES, APPOINT REPRESENTATIVES 
TO OTHER BODIES AND DETERMINE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF 
AND DELEGATIONS TO SUCH COMMITTEES, BOARDS, PANELS AND 
OTHER BODIES, AS SET OUT IN THE RELEVANT APPENDICES  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite MBE, seconded by Councillor C J 
Shippam, and 
  
 RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the review of the representation of the political groups on Standing 

Committees, Boards and Panels (as it affects the Council) and other 
"bodies" within the meaning of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 and the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990. as set out in Appendix H(i) to the agenda in accordance 
with the principles detailed at Appendix H(ii) to the agenda, be noted  

(b)  That the adoption of the Licensing Committee and its sub Committee 
respectively under Section 102(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 1972 
and the Licensing Act 2003 and the adoption of other Committees, Sub-
committees, Boards and Panels under Section 102(1)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as applicable the Local Government Act 2000 
and the appointments to membership made in accordance with the wishes 
of the political groups on the Council and the appointments of Chairmen 
and Vice-Chairmen, set out in Appendices I to T to the agenda, be 
agreed.  

(c) That the adoption of the Cabinet Advisory Panels and the appointments to 
membership made in accordance with the wishes of the political groups on 
the Council set out in Appendix U to the agenda be noted. 

(d) That the adoption of the Joint Transportation Board as a non-statutory 
forum and the appointments to membership made in accordance with the 
wishes of the political groups on the Council set out in Appendix V to the 
agenda be agreed.  

(e) That the Terms of Reference and Delegations for Committees sub -
committees Boards and Panels as set out in Appendices H to V, be 
agreed. 

 
 



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

24. TO AGREE THE CALENDAR OF COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
FOR 2019/20 AND TO NOTE THE PROVISIONAL CALENDAR FOR 
2021/22)  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam, 
and 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the dates and times of Council and Committee meetings for 2019/20 and 
the provisional Calendar of meetings for 2020/21 set out in the agenda be 
agreed.  
  
 

25. TO NOTE THE APPOINTMENTS OF COUNCILLOR REPRESENTATIVES 
BY EXTERNAL BODIES, AND TO OUTSIDE BODIES WHERE THE TERM 
OF OFFICE EXCEEDS ONE YEAR  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam, 
and 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the appointments of Councillor Representatives to outside bodies for a 
term exceeding one year, as set out in Appendix X to the Agenda, be noted. 
 

26. TO APPOINT COUNCILLORS TO OUTSIDE BODIES AND TO LIAISON 
GROUPS  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite MBE, seconded by Councillor C J 
Shippam, and 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That the appointments of Councillor representatives to outside bodies for 

2019/20 set out in Appendix Y to the agenda be adopted,  
 
(2) That the appointments of Councillor representatives to liaison groups for 

2019/20 set out in Appendix Z to the agenda be adopted. 
 
The Mayor advised that the official proceedings had now been concluded and 
invited all Members, Guests and family members to join him for refreshments 
in the adjacent Committee Room B12, for food and refreshments in what he 
hoped would be a fun conclusion to the evening. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.10 pm 

 

 

  
 
 

 MAYOR 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
15 July 2019 

WORK PLAN FOR THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 To consider the proposed Work Plan for the General Assembly of the Council 

for 2019/20. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1. That Members consider whether any additions be made to the Work Plan, for 

the Municipal Year 2019/20 (attached at Appendix A), and that the Plan be 
approved. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. The proposed Work Plan for the General Assembly of the Council 

for the Municipal Year 2019/20 is based on the plans and strategies 
which comprise the policy framework as detailed in Article 4 of the 
Constitution and other significant items which are due to come 
before the Council for decision. 

 
3.2. Current plans and strategies which the Council may decide require 

further attention or new plans and strategies which the Council 
decides should be adopted as matter of local choice are placed on 
the Work Plan.   

 
3.3. Members may ask for other items to be placed on the Work Plan. 

 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Each plan/strategy contained in the appendix relates to the relevant area of the 

Corporate Plan. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
17 July 2017 

 

  

 
6. Appendices 
 
Appendix A - GAC Work Plan 2019/20. 

 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Previous GAC 
Work Plans and 
agendas 
Regulation 9 
Notices 

July 
2019 

 Alan Twyman 
Democratic Services 
Manager  

Democratic 
Services 

  

N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
15 July 2019 

  APPENDIX A 
 

General Assembly of the Council Work Plan 2019/20 

TITLE 
 

DATE OF GAC 
MEETING 

DIRECTOR 

GAC Work Plan  July 2019 Managing Director 

Scrutiny Annual Report July 2019 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

Members’ Allowances - Update July 2019 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

Capital Programme including Prudential Indicators – Outturn 
2018/19 

October 2019 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee Annual 
Report  

October 2019 Strategic Director 
(External Services) 

Setting of Council Tax Base for the Borough for 2020/21 December 2019 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

Section 136 Contributions to Parish and Town Councils 2020/21 December 2019 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax December 2019 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

Report and Recommendations by the Independent Remuneration 
Panel 

December 2019 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

Revenue and Capital Budget 2020/21 February 2020 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 





 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

15 July 2019 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2018 - 2019 

 

1. Summary 

 

1.1 To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the last 
municipal year. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-2019 be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. In accordance with the Terms of Reference of the Committee, the 
Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-2019 is attached at Appendix 
A for consideration. 

 
3.2. The Committee considered the report at its meeting held on 9 July 

2019, after the GAC agenda had gone to print, with the 
recommendation that the report be noted. If there is any change to that 
recommendation this will be reported at the GAC meeting.  

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not applicable. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendices 
 

A – Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-2019. 



 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

15 July 2019 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

Scrutiny Committee Agendas 
and Minutes (2018-2019) 

 Alan Twyman 
(01322) 343430 

Democratic 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services  
 

N/A 

 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
9 July 2019 

                                               

APPENDIX A 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the 2018-19   
municipal year. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members in Committee on 9 July 
2019, the draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018–19 (attached as 
Appendix A to this report) be agreed, and submitted to the next meeting of the 
General Assembly of the Council.  

 
 

3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. The Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol (considered separately) states that the 

Committee will receive an annual report on its work undertaken in the 
preceding municipal year. 

3.2. A draft Annual Report detailing the work undertaken by the Scrutiny 
Committee during the 2018-19 municipal year is attached at Appendix A for 
Members’ consideration, prior to submission to the GAC.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
Not applicable. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category: Not applicable 
 
 
7. Appendix A: draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-19  

 
 
 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
9 July 2019 

                                               
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report 2017-18, Annual Council 
Agenda and Minutes May 2019, 
Scrutiny Committee Minutes 
(July-Nov. 2018), Scrutiny 
Protocol and ToRs. 

July 2018 David Hook 
Committee Coordinator 

Member Services  
(01322 343276) 

Democratic  
Services/ 
Monitoring 

Officer 

N/A 

 



APPENDIX A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 
  Draft Annual Report 2018-19 
 

 



APPENDIX A 
 

Introduction and Background 
 
The Council appointed the Scrutiny Committee in response to the Local 
Government Act 2000 in order to introduce more democracy into the decision 
making process, and to ensure that those who made decisions were held 
accountable.  
 
The Committee performs the scrutiny function on behalf of the Council in 
accordance with the guidelines contained in its Protocol and Terms of 
Reference (ToRs) documents confirmed at Annual Council in May each year.  
 
The Committee’s remit is to contribute to improving Council services by 
holding decision makers to account to the ultimate benefit of the residents of 
the Borough. To achieve this aim the Committee may: 
 

 Review and question Cabinet Members and Officers about decisions 
and performance; 
 

 Scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy, 
objectives, performance targets and /or particular service areas; 
 

 Make recommendations to the Cabinet and the General Assembly of 
the Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process.  

 
Work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee complements the work 
undertaken by the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee and 
the Policy Overview Committee, whose remits are set out in their respective 
Protocols. In compiling its work programme for the ensuing municipal year, 
the Scrutiny Committee aims to avoid duplicating any work being undertaken 
by those sister Committees.  
 
The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to the Council annually on the 
work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This Annual Report 
provides a summary of the Committee’s work undertaken during the 2018-19 
municipal cycle. The comprehensive record of the Committee’s work in the 
period under review is contained in the Minutes of its meetings, as published 
in full on the Council’s website. 
 
 

 
WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW 2018-19 

 
 

 
The Committee is responsible for compiling its own Work Programme for the 
ensuing municipal year, and agreeing an initial Work Plan with proposed 
timings for each topic, to be reviewed/confirmed at each subsequent meeting 
in the ensuing municipal cycle.   
 
On 10 July 2018 at the initial meeting of the Committee in the new 2018-19 
municipal year, agreed an initial rolling Work Plan. The Plan was reviewed 
and updated by Members at its subsequent meetings in the 2018-19 cycle in 
September and November 2018. The meeting scheduled for February 2019 



APPENDIX A 
 

was cancelled. In addition to agreed Work Plan items, Members also 
considered topics on an ad-hoc basis through-out the year, drawn-down 
under the terms of the Committee’s Protocol, with the approval of the 
Managing Director, as Responsible Council Officer.  
 
The Committee also considered as a stock item at each meeting, the current  
Regulation 9 Notice (formerly the Forward Plan), which set out  the key 
decisions to be considered by Cabinet in the forthcoming 4 month period; with 
a view to drawing-down topics for future consideration by the Committee. 
 
Details of the programme of work undertaken by the Committee during the 
2018-19 municipal cycle are summarised below. Comprehensive details of 
Member’s discussions are contained in the Committee’s Minutes, published 
on the Council’s public website. 
 
 

 
WORK PLAN Items completed in the 2018-19 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 

 
 
10 July 2018 
 
Item 1: Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2017-18 
 
Members approved the Committee’s Annual Report for 2017-18 for 
presentation to the General Assembly of the Council and thanked the 
Committee Co-ordinator for his advice and support of Members in the period 
under review.  
 
Item 2: Committee’s Work Programme for 2018-19 
 
Members approved an initial Work Plan for the ensuing 2018-19 municipal 
year to be reviewed at subsequent meetings of the Committee in the cycle. 
  
 
18 September 2018 
 
No Work Plan items had been scheduled for consideration by Members at this 
meeting [see draw-down items below]. 
 
20 November 2018 
 
Item 1: The Orchard Theatre Annual Report & Accounts for the Year 
ended 31 March 2018 
 
Members considered a report from the Council’s Leisure & Communities 
Officer which attached as Appendices A, B and C respectively: 
 

(i) The Council’s Monitoring Schedule for the  provision of Services by HQ 
Theatre & Hospitality (HQT&H) for The Orchard Theatre Dartford Ltd 
(Appendix A to the report); 
 



APPENDIX A 
 

(ii) The Orchard Theatre Director’s Annual Report for the period 1 April 
2017 to 31 March 2018 (Appendix B to the report); 
 

(iii) Orchard Theatre Dartford Ltd Profit Share Statement at 31 March 2018 
(Appendix C to the report). 

 
Members expressed their appreciation of the efforts of the Orchard Theatre 
Director and his team in the period under review, and resolved to note the 
contents of the 2017/18 Annual Report for the Orchard Theatre Dartford as 
set out in Appendix B to the covering report, and the Profit Share Statement 
for the Theatre at 31 March 2018, as set out in Appendix C to the report.  
 
Item 2: Dartford Cricket Club in Hesketh Park – Update 
 
Members considered a report from the Council’s Leisure & Communities 
Officer which enclosed a Community Use Information (CUI) sheet from 
Dartford Cricket Club dated October 2018. The CUI sheet updated the 
Committee on the activities being undertaken by the Club in Hesketh Park 
and in support of the wider Dartford community, which Members resolved to 
note. 
 
 
19 February 2019  
 
This scheduled meeting was subsequently cancelled, due to a lack of 
substantive business.  
 
 

 

 ITEMS DRAWN-DOWN 
 

 
 
10 July 2018 
 
FUNDING of DARTFORD CHURCHES WINTER SHELTER 
 
The topic had been drawn-down by the Vice-Chairman on behalf of the 
Conservative Group represented on the Committee, who assumed the 
Chairmanship of the meeting for consideration of the item. 
 
Members had been provided with copies of a tabled document entitled 
‘Dartford Churches Winter Shelter Project – 2018’’ prior to being addressed by 
David Mitchell, Project Administrator for the Shelter, and John Atkins Chair of 
the Shelter’s Steering Group. The Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Housing and the Council’s Housing Solutions & Private Sector 
Manager, were also in attendance to respond to Members’ questions. 
 
Members were advised by the Acting Chairman that the purpose of the draw-
down was to establish clarity over the Council’s decision to fund the Winter 
Shelter Project, not to scrutinise the Shelter’s operation by Dartford Churches.  
 



APPENDIX A 
 

Michael Smith and John Atkins from the Winter Shelter highlighted the 
following principal points for Members, drawing on the contents of the tabled 
document: 
 

 The Winter Shelter Project was in the 5th year of its operation and  ran 
during the peak cold Winter months from 1 January to 31 March; 

 The Project offered over-night accommodation Sunday to Saturday 
between the hours of 7 pm to 8 am and provided a hot evening meal 
and a cooked breakfast the following morning. A maximum of 12 
homeless people were accommodated each night at a different church 
venue; 

 All churches in Dartford supported the Winter Project, which had grown 
year on year, with 180 regular volunteers currently operating at 6 
separate church venues in Dartford;  

 The Project had been wholly reliant on donations from churches and 
individuals in its first 4 years of operation, prior to the Council’s funding 
donation in November 2017; 

 The Council’s grant of £10k had enabled the Winter Project to make a 
significant step-change in its operation in 2018 from a bed & breakfast 
service, to one which helped homeless people to ‘move on’ to a better 
life off the streets; 

 The Council’s donation had been used to fund the general running 
costs of the Project in 2018 [excluding salaries] which had enabled the 
Shelter’s Steering Group to use its existing £2k bank balance (plus 
continuing private donations), to fund the salaries of 2 Project Workers 
during the Shelter’s peak operating months from January to March, and 
a part-time Project Worker throughout the year, to help clients build on 
their initial Winter Shelter experience, and ‘move-on’ during the Spring 
and Summer months; 

 The Winter Project had been able to accommodate all its clients during 
January to March 2018 with only 1 or 2 exceptions. 

 
The Leader of the Council clarified for Members the rationale behind the 
Council’s decision to make a funding donation to the Winter Shelter and how 
that donation had helped to meet the Council’s Corporate Objectives. In 
particular, the Council’s general responsibility for the well-being of Dartford 
residents and more specifically, on compassionate grounds, for the homeless 
sleeping rough on the streets in the Borough in the most extreme winter 
weather. 
 
He advised Members that the ‘risk’ for the Council in making such a grant 
funding to the Dartford Churches Winter Shelter Project had been that it 
became the helper of 1st resort in the future: this could conflict with the 
Council’s statutory responsibilities under the new Homelessness Reduction 
Act [to provide accommodation for those that qualified]. Part of the rationale in 
granting funding to the Winter Shelter Project was that it provided 
accommodation in Dartford, whereas under the Act, the Council was not 
always able to accommodate the homeless within the Borough, only nearby in 
Kent.  
 
The Leader had received an application for a grant-in-aid on 25 August 2017 
which had been considered in consultation with the Managing Director, as the 



APPENDIX A 
 

Responsible Council Officer, and a grant of £10k from the Identified Initiatives 
Reserve (2017-18) had been subsequently been made in November 2017, on 
the sole condition that the monies were not used for salary purposes [in line 
with the Council’s grants-in-aid policy].  
 
Council Officers ensured that the Winter Shelter’s services dove-tailed with 
those commissioned by the Council from Porchlight, and the umbrella of 
services provided by the Council and its partner agencies in the new Housing 
Services Hub; to meet the Council’s statutory obligations for the homeless 
under the provisions of the new Homelessness Reduction Act.  
 
Members were advised by the Housing Solutions & Private Sector Housing 
Manager that:  
 

 Shelter clients were people whom the Council could not help directly 
under any of the ‘5 tests’ for homelessness under the provisions of the 
Housing (Homeless Persons) Act 1977 [prior to April 2018] and 
subsequently under the new Homelessness Prevention Act, which 
defined the Council’s statutory responsibilities with regard to homeless 
persons and families; 

 The Council’s Severe Weather Protocol formed part of the support 
element of the Act, and was applied to homeless persons sleeping on 
the streets when temperatures dropped below zero for three 
consecutive nights; 

 The Council provided a Single Person Homeless Service to those that 
qualified; 

 Hostels were an alternative for some Shelter clients but could be 
problematical in terms of a client’s previous history and behaviour in a 
hostel; 

 Shelter clients may have been to the Council prior to the Shelter, but 
either failed to qualify for the Council’s help under the Act, or had 
previously lost accommodation provided by the Council or its partner 
Agencies, due to dependency issues; 

 The Council always examined all options available when considering 
applications from potentially homeless applicants under the provisions 
of the Act; 

 The issue of East European workers sleeping rough in the Borough 
was being addressed by the Vulnerability Forum run by the Council’s 
Community Safety Unit (CSU) and the Safety Forum; 

 Significant and increasingly successful work had been undertaken on a 
multi-agency basis to address drug and alcohol dependency and 
mental health issues amongst the homeless (via the Council’s new 
Housing Services Hub) to meet the Council’s statutory obligations 
under the Homelessness Prevention Act where appropriate. 

 
The Leader advised Members, in terms of lessons learnt and the shape and 
adequacy of the Council’s provision for the Homeless and Rough Sleepers in 
the Borough; that Porchlight’s Single Homeless Service (commissioned by the 
Council) had corresponded with the Shelter’s own survey in terms of 
numbers, demographics and profile, and whether those individuals did or did 
not have recourse to help from the Council under the statutory provisions of 



APPENDIX A 
 

the Act. He judged that both the Porchlight Survey and the Council’s donation 
to the Winter Shelter as money well spent. 
 
The Chairman held a different view. He suggested that the most important 
lessons to be learnt from the Porchlight and Shelter surveys was that most 
rough sleepers in the Borough were young, had drug or alcohol 
dependencies, and often suffered from mental health issues. He suggested 
that these were more important lessons to be learned by the Council and its 
Service partners. 
 
The Housing Solutions & Private Sector Housing Manager assured the 
Chairman that the Council were aware of issues and demographics, and the 
contribution of the Winter Shelter in helping such clients whom the Council 
could not, under the provisions of the Act.   
 
She advised that parental eviction and mental health issues were the primary 
causes of homelessness amongst the young. The Council’s multi-agency 
operation in the new Housing Services Hub sought to address these and 
other issues affecting the Homeless in a wrap-around service provision, to 
meet the statutory requirements of the Act. She represented the Council in the 
continuing national discussion of these issues, and at the local authority level 
with KCC, over the commissioning of further resources in Dartford.  
 
The Acting Chairman thanked his guests from the Shelter together with the 
Leader of the Council, Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the Council’s HS&PS 
Manager for attending the Committee’s proceedings, and their comprehensive 
response to Members questions concerning the Council’s decision to make a 
funding donation to the Dartford Churches Winter Shelter Project operation in 
2018.  
 
 
18 September 2018  
 
COUNCIL LITTER ENFORCEMENT SCHEME  
 
The topic had been drawn-down by the Chairman who had expressed his 
concern regarding the effectiveness of the existing Scheme, how it fitted into 
the Council’s wider strategy to tackle litter in the Borough, and how it met 
relevant Corporate Objective(s).  
 
The Leader of the Council responded on behalf of Cabinet. He advised 
Members that the current Litter Enforcement Scheme formed part of the 
Council’s wider remit; considered by Cabinet some years previously; but 
initially deferred in the hope that the Dartford public could be educated to 
improve its litter habits and sense of public responsibility over the issue.  
 
By 2013 it had become increasingly apparent that trying to better educate the 
public over its litter responsibilities was not working. Littering in the Borough, 
in particular around the town centre and the railway station had increased, 
and Cabinet took the decision to impose a litter scheme. After taking time to 
learn from other authorities operating litter enforcement schemes, Kingdom 
Security had been chosen to operate the Scheme from the small pool of 
contractors operating in the sector. The Council had ensured that a 



APPENDIX A 
 

prescriptive contract was drawn-up with Kingdom [given the BBC programme 
on Kingdom’s litter enforcement schemes elsewhere in the UK] and the 
Leader expressed his satisfaction that the Council’s overall aims and policy 
objectives had been met under the contract arrangements secured. Cigarette 
butt littering, particularly in the Town Centre and around Dartford railway 
station, continued to be the primary offence. But all aspects of littering were 
tackled by the Council, under its wider remit to reduce offending in the 
Borough.  
 
The Chairman noted that over the 2 year period 2016-18 under the Scheme, 
94% of all Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) issued by Kingdom’s Litter 
Enforcement Officers (LEOs) had been for cigarette butt littering. He accepted 
that cigarette butt littering was the number 1 issue, but suggested that 
Dartford had several other litter issues which also needed to be addressed. 
He questioned whether the profile of FPNs issued in 2016-18 matched 
Dartford’s littering profile on a category basis in that 2 year period. 
 
The Leader agreed that the FPN profile clearly did not, and conceded that dog 
fouling was a greater problem than indicated by the 0.3% of total FPNs 
issued. That said; Kingdom’s LEOs could only issue FPNs for littering 
offences they observed, and dog fouling was rarely observed at the time of 
offence. Cigarette butt littering in the Town Centre and Dartford railway station 
had been, and continued to be, the primary offence and consequently 
attracted the vast majority of FPNs issued. It was hoped that once the 
Dartford public had been sufficiently educated (through FPN fines), Kingdom 
would be able to expand its current Dartford operation beyond the Town 
Centre and Dartford railway station to concentrate on other areas of the Town. 
Until that time, LEOs would continue to issue FPNs where offences were seen 
to be committed.  
 
Members were informed by the Kingdom Manager that the company’s LEOs 
worked in daylight hours up to 6 p.m. Monday to Saturday, in partnership with 
the Council’s enforcement officers and Kent police. He confirmed the Leader’s 
advice that offenders had to be clearly seen to be committing an offence 
before an FPN could be issued. This made the issue of FPNs for dog fouling 
particularly difficult. It was hoped to extend the daylight hours that LEOs 
patrolled next summer to address the specific issue of dog fouling, allied to 
increased co-ordination with Kent Police via the Council’s CSU operation.  
 
He advised that his LEO teams were deployed on specific routes on a weekly 
basis, in response to Intel reports received from a variety of sources 
(residents, street cleaners, Kent police and Council enforcement officers); to 
help target litter ‘hotspots’ for enforcement measures by LEOs and the 
Council’s EOs. Dartford train station and the Town Centre were regularly 
identified as litter ‘hotspots’ and feedback from the LEO teams indicated that 
interaction with the public was good, and that the message not to drop 
cigarette butts was being received. He added that under the national ‘Keep 
Britain Tidy’ campaign, cigarette butt littering was a major target used to better 
educate the public.    
 
The Chairman suggested that despite an apparently low recidivism rate 
amongst fined offenders, the fact that incidences of cigarette butt littering 
were still high, indicated that the message was not getting through to the 



APPENDIX A 
 

wider public and that by extension, the current Scheme was not effective in 
changing public behaviour. 
 
In response to the Chairman’s expression of concern, the Leader advised 
Members that Kingdom’s data for the Scheme for 2016/17 and 2017/18 
clearly showed that the recidivism rate amongst smokers dropping cigarette 
butts was low when fined. Educating the public took time and the Scheme 
clearly needed more time to change public behaviour regarding this specific 
littering offence. The Council would continue to fine offenders in the belief that 
the message would eventually get through to the public at large. The Scheme 
required zero financing, and actually provided a small revenue stream for the 
authority which had been used by the Council to supplement resources 
including; the provision of additional bins, tackling fly-tipping issues and the 
purchase of new CCTV cameras.  
 
Members expressed further concern over LEO patrol patterns, food packaging 
and drinks can littering at the week-end around West Hill by patrons of 
Dartford’s night-time economy. Early morning dog walkers who allowed their 
pets to foul this area were also a source of particular concern. 
 
The Strategic Director (ES), the Council’s Waste & Parks Manager, and the 
Kingdom Manger confirmed the following points for Members in response to 
their concerns: 
 

 Wards were patrolled on the basis of Intel received and not set in 
stone; 

 If residents raised concerns over specific littering behaviour the 
Council’s EOs and Kingdom’s LEOs would respond appropriately; 

 LEOs undertook dog-fouling patrols between 5 to 8 a.m. in the summer 
months when such offences could be observed; 

 Kingdom participated in Police led multi-agency operations on a 
monthly basis to tackle littering issues arising out of Dartford’s night-
time economy; 

 Kingdom held weekly team meetings with Dartford partners; under the 
over-all direction of the Council’s Enforcement Manager; to assess the 
Intel received from a wide variety of sources including residents and 
shopkeepers, to set future patrol patterns to target litter ‘hotspots’. 

 
Members were advised that all age groups were represented in the FPN 
demographic for Dartford and the Council had a 75% payment rate for FPNs 
issued across that demographic spectrum, with the level of complaints against 
FPN issue low. This compared favourably with other Boroughs. It was 
confirmed that a 60% FPN payment rate was required to self-finance the 
Scheme.    
 
The Chairman returned to his theme of the effectiveness/success of the 
existing Scheme and how it was being measured. He remained unconvinced 
that a low level of complaints against FPN issue and a low level of recidivism 
by smokers [who had dropped cigarette butts and been fined] were in fact 
indicators that the Scheme was neither effective nor successful. He noted that 
no FPNs had been issued for dog-fouling in the period to September 2018, 



APPENDIX A 
 

and concluded that that offence was clearly not being effectively addressed by 
the current Scheme. Some other Members echoed the Chairman’s concerns. 
 
The Leader maintained his view that a 0% rate of recidivism amongst 
cigarette butt offenders (over 6,900 people had not committed a second 
offence after receiving an FPN), allied to the low level of complaints against 
FPNs issued; were real indicators of the current Scheme’s success and 
justified the decision by Cabinet to institute a litter scheme. 
 
 The Chairman concluded discussion by suggesting that it would be easier to 
demonstrate that the current Scheme was effective, if there was measurable 
evidence of an actual decline in littering. He had no confidence that this was 
in fact the case.  
 
At the suggestion of the Strategic Director (External Services), the Council’s 
Waste & Parks Manager advised Members of the background to littering in 
the Borough, the aims of the current Scheme, and the context of success in 
the long-term. 
 

 The Council’s street cleaning operation cleared 125 tonnes of waste 
per month; 

 Litter only accounted for 5 tonnes of that monthly total; 

 There was no accurate breakdown for that litter component; 

 It was therefore impossible to profile litter or those that littered ; 

 DBC’s waste and litter clearing operation was comparable with other 
Boroughs in the area; 

 Actual litter complaints were mainly about cans, bottles and cigarette 
packets; 

 Complaints were down to about 30 per month for litter and 20 per 
month  for dog fouling;  

 Council street cleaning teams believed the Town Centre was cleaner - 
but this was difficult to quantify; 

 The current Scheme was a long-term project whose success needed to 
be measured in years (if not decades) in terms of educating the public 
and altering their behaviour and littering profile. 

 
The Committee thanked Cabinet Members and Officers for attending, and 
responding to the issues and concerns raised in the debate. 
 
20 November 2018 
 
1: UTILISATION and RENEWAL of PUBLIC LITTER BINS 
 
The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn-down the topic on behalf 
of his Group, in response to the weight of correspondence he continued to 
receive from residents in his Ward regarding the existing provision of litter and 
dog waste bins by the Council.  His aim was to examine and discuss the 
Council’s existing litter bin regime, and how the current arrangements might 
move forward and be improved for the future.  
 
 



APPENDIX A 
 

The Waste & Parks Manager highlighted the following principal points for 
Members from his report before the Committee: 
 

 There were currently some 700 litter bins distributed across the 
Borough used for both litter and dog waste [previously separate bins]; 

 The Borough Council  provided the majority of the bins, supplemented 
by Parish/Town Councils locally, plus from private enterprise; 

 The current distribution of litter bins had evolved over time in response 
to varied Member and resident concern and expressions of perceived 
need; 

 The Council received on average between 3 to 5 requests per month 
for increased litter-bin provision with the majority of residents 
requesting dual litter and dog-waste bins, but generally not situated too 
close to their homes; 

 Litter bins were emptied by the Council’s contractors on a daily, 
multiple day, or weekly basis as appropriate, depending on the volume 
of litter and dog waste deposited;   

 Amey LG Ltd emptied the majority of the 700 litter bins in the urban 
environment, Continental Landscapes emptied the litter bins in Central 
and Hesketh Parks, and CPM Ltd were contracted to empty the litter 
bins in Dartford’s 27 school playgrounds; 

 All street litter - plastic, paper and bottles went into the same litter bins 
together with dog waste. Consequently, here was no statistical 
breakdown for the component elements of street litter. 

 
In response to subsequent specific questions from Members the Waste & 
Parks Manager confirmed the following additional points: 
 

 The location of litter bins in the Borough was unmapped; 

 All non-recyclable waste (including dog waste) from litter bins was 
bulked up at Pepperhill Household Waste & Recycling Centre and 
transferred to Maidstone for incineration; 

 The frequency for emptying litter bins was decided by the Waste & 
Parks Manager, based on feedback from contractors. 
 

The Chairman expressed his concern that no formal policy or procedure was 
set out in the report for the provision of new litter and dog bins. He asked 
whether the replacement of litter bins was a reactive or proactive (intelligence 
led) process, and what factors were used to determine the siting of new dual 
use litter/dog waste bins. 
 
The Waste & Parks Manager advised Members that the replacement of dual 
litter/dog waste bins and the provision of new or additional bins, was a 
reactive process based on a number of factors and considerations including: 
 

 Whether there was already a bin at a location; 

 How many shops/schools were located nearby; 

 Was the location of the existing/proposed bin on a route used by 
school/college pupils; 

 If so, were there shops nearby that those pupils used, particularly fast 
food outlets and/or convenience stores; 



APPENDIX A 
 

 Complaints of [repeated] dog littering from residents in a specific 
location. 

 
Increased bin provision was also considered by Officers during the planning 
application process for new fast food outlets, which tended to generate 
increased levels of littering.  Littering in private areas or where a road had yet 
to be ‘adopted’, were not the responsibility of the Council. 
 
Members’ sought evidence of pro-active Council policy going forward. The 
Waste & Parks Manager gave the following advice in response: 
 

 Litter bin cost varied from £25 up to £5,000 for a ‘Big-Belly’ solar-
powered bin with a crushing/compacting capacity; 

 Dartford purchased towards the low-cost end of the litter bin market; 

 Re-cycling efforts were being pushed across the Borough, but research 
showed that multi-compartment bins did not work well with residents, 
were labour intensive for contractors to empty, and consequently costly 
for the Council to install and run; 

 The Council’s existing policy and going forward, was to purchase good 
quality standard litter and re-cycling bins that were economically priced; 

 The Council’s litter bin policy had been evolved by Officers over time 
based on their experience of what worked, which was ‘simple was 
best’. Both for the Council and for residents; 

 The more complex a litter collection process became, the greater 
opportunity for error, leading to resident dissatisfaction and complaints. 
 

The Chairman next addressed the topic of the Council’s review of its current 
litter operation as notified by Cabinet, but as yet, not subject to report.   
 
The Waste & Parks Manager advised Members that the Council’s Review of 
Litter for Dartford as a whole remained ongoing. A mini review of the Town 
Centre had been completed, and a joint review with Wilmington Parish 
Council was progressing, with similar joint reviews with all Parishes proposed 
in the future. He confirmed the following points in response to subsequent 
specific questions from the Chairman and some Members: 
 

 The purpose of the Review was to determine the present location of all 
bins [some pre-dated the 1980s];  

 The number of proposed new litter bins was not yet known; 

 There was scope for bin replacement in the current budget, with 
recourse to greater funding on a needs basis as required; 

 Priorities remained replacing small lidless bins attached to lamp posts 
and bus stops, then the replacement of larger lidless bins on a like for 
like basis, with good quality robust bins from the economical end of the 
market; 

 Not all litter bins would be replaced - many were in a good condition; 

 The Town Centre, Longfield and Swanscombe retail areas benefited 
from metal bins on a perceived needs basis. 

 
Members thanked the Waste & Parks manager for his report and for his open 
and frank responses to Members’ questions, and resolved that the Minutes of 
the meeting be referred to Cabinet for response in due course. 



APPENDIX A 
 

 
 

2: COUNCIL’S MODERN ANTI-SLAVERY and HUMAN TRAFFICKING 
STATEMENT 
 
The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn-down the Council’s 
Statement on ‘Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking’ on behalf of his 
Group in recognition of UK Anti-Slavery Day [18 October].  
 
He proposed that the Committee examine whether the Council’s performance 
in these policy areas fulfilled the terms of its Statement; including the 
Council’s  interactions with suppliers and partners; and whether there was any 
scope for more to be done in that respect.  
 
The Chairman opened the debate by stating that it was hugely positive that 
the Council had published their own Statement regarding ‘Modern Anti-
Slavery and Human Trafficking’ measures, procedures and practices. He 
noted that many Councils had not done so and invited the Cabinet Member 
present and the Strategic Director (External Services) to brief Members on the 
objectives of the Council’s policy, as enshrined in its Statement. 
 
The Strategic Director (External Services) advised the Committee that she 
was not an expert on the subject, but gave the following background to the 
Council’s decision to publish a Statement, and outlined how her 
responsibilities as SD (ES) had led to her involvement with and oversight of, 
the Council’s Statement at a personal working level. 
 
As Chair of the Council’s corporate Safeguarding Steering Group the SD(ES) 
was heavily involved on behalf of the Council with the Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) on the issues. A principal part of the CSP’s work was to 
agree and publish an Annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document. The SA 
addressed inter-alia Safeguarding, Modern Anti-Slavery and Human 
Trafficking issues in the Borough, how to identify them, and the measures and 
resources required to address the issues, together with CSP partners such as 
Kent Police and KCC. 
 
At the time of publication of the parent legislation [Modern Slavery Act 2015] it 
had not been clear what demands the Act imposed on local authorities. The 
Council had decided to adopt the strictures set out in the Act as ‘good working 
practice’, and to demonstrate its willingness to address the issues the Act 
covered. Since publication of its first Statement in 2017, the Council’s policy 
had been one of promoting awareness and greater understanding of the 
subjects to its Officers. In particular, those serving in the Community Safety 
Unit (CSU), Housing and Environmental Health services; given their work in 
the wider community on a daily basis; had been equipped with the skills to 
recognise and appropriately report concerns of potential modern day slavery 
and human trafficking.  
 
In addition, the Council had engaged outside experts in the field and liaised 
closely with colleagues from partner agencies to build up a greater awareness 
of the issues, and how to respond to them. Examples of that further work 
included: 
 



APPENDIX A 
 

 The Council Briefing Note to Members on the issues, including who to 
contact when encountering them in their Wards and elsewhere; 

 Interactive training of licensed cab drivers in the Borough by Council 
Licencing Officers, in conjunction with colleagues from Kent Fire & 
Rescue and Kent Police: Licensed cab drivers had a key role to play in 
observing and reporting a wide range of possible offences that could 
give rise to concern across the range of safeguarding subjects; 

 Council procurement procedures required existing contractors and 
suppliers to adhere to the Council’s Statement and ensure that their 
activities met the Council’s thresholds in terms of preventing modern 
day slavery and human trafficking.  

 
The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director (ES)) for her detailed and 
comprehensive briefing of the Committee and proposed that Members next 
examined what specific measures the Council was taking to combat modern 
day slavery and human trafficking.  
 
Members were advised that the Council’s three performance indicators (PIs) 
used to measure how effective the Council had been in ensuring slavery and 
human trafficking were not taking place in any part of its business or supply 
chains [Statement para 10.1.1-3] were based upon what could be measured, 
and on what other organisations were doing. The Council had not received 
any reports of slavery or human trafficking in the Borough in the period under 
review to date, in relation to its own activities.   
 
The Council was under a legal obligation to work with partners to meet its 
safeguarding obligations in all its work areas and to report any/all instances of 
abuse it encountered. Safeguarding measures were now implanted into all of 
the Council’s daily processes and procedures, and specific training given to 
Council Officers who worked externally in the community. Relevant Council 
Officers engaged with business managers in the Borough over specific 
issues, and a broader inter-action with business as a whole, was conducted 
through the Council’s public website.  
 
In addition, the Community Safety Manager as the Council’s Safeguarding 
Champion, was the operational lead in terms of safeguarding children, 
modern day slavery and human trafficking, and the Head of Housing Services 
was the operational lead for adult safeguarding.   
 
The Chairman saw an inherent risk [for the Council] in measuring the scale of 
modern day slavery and human trafficking in the Borough by the fact that no 
reports of such activity had been recorded in the previous 12 month period. 
He asked when the fact of ‘no reports’ became a concern for the Council, 
rather than an assurance. 
 
The Strategic Director (External Services) reminded Members that the current 
Statement enshrined the Council’s procedures and practices to combat 
modern day slavery and human trafficking in the conduct of its own business, 
its suppliers and partners. The Council Statement did not seek to govern the 
wider Dartford community nor could it.  
 
 



APPENDIX A 
 

In response to a suggestion from the Chairman that the freedom to join a 
trade union be enshrined in the Council’s next Statement; the Strategic 
Director (External Services) advised that the Council could not interfere in the 
internal running of other organisation, bodies or companies, in terms of trade 
union membership for its employees.  
 
However, the Council did ask its own suppliers and partners to sign-up to its 
safe-guarding ethos and thresholds, and she undertook to consider the 
suggestion of trade union representation, for inclusion in the next annual 
review of the Council’s current Statement on Modern Anti-Slavery and Human 
Trafficking measures, due to be undertaken in September 2019. 
 
Members resolved to note the contents of the Council’s current proactive 
Statement on Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking measures, and the 
proposal that Officers consider Members’ views expressed that evening, when 
the Council’s current Statement was reviewed in September 2019. 
 
 





1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 24 January 2019 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

101. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

102. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interests.

103. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 6 
DECEMBER 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 December 2018 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.

104. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

105. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 21 JANUARY 2019 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 
Monday 21 January 2019 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout the 
meeting.

106. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.



CABINET
THURSDAY 24 JANUARY 2019

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

107. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED:

That under section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
Appendix A to Agenda item 7, Award of Waste Collection and Street Cleaning 
Services Contract 2019 to 2024, on the grounds that this would involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information.

108. AWARD OF REFUSE COLLECTION AND STREET CLEANSING 
CONTRACT 2019 TO 2024 

The Cabinet considered a report which provided details of the tender 
procurement process for the Waste Collection and Street Cleaning Services 
Contract for 2019 to 2024 following the end of the Council’s current contract 
on 30 June 2019. The services included in the contract were refuse, recycling, 
garden waste, bulky waste and medical waste collections, the provision of 
wheeled bins, street cleaning, litter and dog bin emptying, and illegal dumping 
clearance. Refuse would continue to be collected weekly and recycling and 
garden waste fortnightly which had been supported by resident’s responses to 
the Third Big Bin Vote consultation. A full procurement exercise had been 
undertaken, following European Union Procurement rules, and the two 
tenders received from FCC Environment Ltd and Urbaser SA had been fully 
evaluated by applying financial and quality criteria.

The Chairman informed the Cabinet that he had attended the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel meeting on 21 January where there had been a very full 
discussion of the procurement process and the tenders received. The Waste 
and Recycling Manager had provided further details of the tender process and 
the rationale for the recommendation to the Cabinet on the award of the 
contract to the preferred contractor. He had explained that the world had 
moved on since the award of the previous contract in 2005 and that there was 
more flexibility in terms of the conditions that could now be included in 
contracts, the incentives for performance and penalties that could be applied 
for under-performance. The preferred contractor had been able to 
demonstrate its commitment to improvement, provision of real-time 
information and management processes as well as a commitment to services 
and staff.

The Chairman had also addressed the Cabinet Advisory Panel and provided 
his perspective on the procurement process and the Council’s commitment to 
maintain and improve on the current levels of performance. He had reminded 
the Advisory Panel that the existing levels of performance were extremely 
high and that Dartford remained one of only two councils in Kent to retain 
weekly bin collections. As recently as October 2018, 97.8% of bins were 
collected on the day scheduled for collection, rising to over 99% when 
including bins being collected the following day. He expected the new contract 
to continue to deliver outstanding performance and also to benefit from 
technological changes and innovative practices, which were not available 
when the previous contract had been awarded in 2005, but were on offer from 



CABINET
THURSDAY 24 JANUARY 2019

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

the preferred contractor, and the delivery of additional services to benefit 
residents and the local environment.  

The Chairman noted that when the previous contract had been tendered it 
had been welcomed by Members as a very good contract but that technology, 
equipment and collection techniques had radically changed since then and 
there were new opportunities for delivering improved services. This would 
include having real time information which would make the service more 
responsive, and a broader range of equipment. The preferred contractor had 
demonstrated commitment to delivering quality services, with a high focus on 
customers and a holistic approach to service delivery and had also 
demonstrated a commitment to staff and service development. The Chairman 
also explained transitional arrangements and how the current service would 
be managed and monitored to ensure continued high performance during the 
changeover period. 

Members recognised the opportunities and benefits for residents offered by 
the new contract and thanked officers for their hard work  in developing the 
contract and undertaking the procurement process. 

RESOLVED:

That the award of the contract for Waste Collection and Street Cleaning 
Services, for an initial five year term, starting Monday 1 July 2019 to the 
winning supplier Company B as detailed in the exempt Appendix A to the 
report, be approved.

109. CONSULTATION ON SEVENOAKS'  PROPOSED SUBMISSION LOCAL 
PLAN 

The Head of Regeneration outlined the Council’s response to the public 
consultation being carried out by Sevenoaks District Council from 18 
December 2018 to 3 February 2019 on its Proposed Submission Local Plan. 
This was the latest stage of consultation on the proposed Local Plan following 
earlier consultations, on which Dartford had submitted officer level comments, 
and was the last opportunity for the Council to comment before the Plan was 
formally submitted. Sevenoaks had revised some of its proposals in light of 
the earlier comments that had been submitted. Notably proposals for large 
scale residential development at Fawkham and Hartley had been removed but 
the proposal for residential development at Pedham Place remained as a 
broad location for development. There was still work to be done by 
Sevenoaks Council on this site and further details would come forward when 
the Plan is reviewed in five years’ time. The Council understood the pressures 
and constraints faced by Sevenoaks in terms of meeting its housing needs 
given the extensive designations of Green Belt land and Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty but also felt that it was essential that any large scale releases 
of land in the Green Belt would be informed by the potential impacts on the 
wider road network and was supported by appropriate infrastructure. There 
were also concerns about the loss of Oasis Academy as a school site, given 
the likely need to re-provide a school in the same area, and the lack of an 



CABINET
THURSDAY 24 JANUARY 2019

4

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  The Council’s proposed response to the 
consultation was set out in Appendix C to the report.

The Cabinet noted the comments of the Cabinet Advisory Panel, which had 
endorsed the recommendations contained in the report.

RESOLVED:

That the Council’s response to the Sevenoaks Proposed Submission Local 
Plan, set out in Appendix C to the report, be endorsed.

110. NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 2019/20 

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) informed Members that the Council 
reviewed National Non-Domestic Discretionary Rate Relief annually. 
Depending on their circumstances some NNDR ratepayers might be eligible 
for mandatory rate relief, mandatory rural rate relief or small business rate 
relief. Charities and sports organisations with charitable status and sports 
clubs registered with HMRC as community amateur sports clubs currently 
received 80% mandatory relief but in addition it was open to the Council to 
grant discretionary rate relief to any ratepayer. Discretionary rate relief could 
be awarded in isolation or to top up a mandatory award or to supplement 
assistance given via the small business rate relief scheme. The types of 
properties eligible for discretionary relief and the current criteria for eligibility 
were outlined in the report. The details of each ratepayer to be considered for 
relief in 2019/20 and the recommended level of relief in each case was 
outlined in Appendix A to the report, amounting to total gross relief of 
£189,361. The report also provided an update on the local discretionary 
business rate relief scheme (Revaluation Relief) and the proposed approach 
for implementation of the Retail Discount Scheme for 2019/20 and 2020/21.

RESOLVED:

1. That the maximum level of discretionary rate relief for 2019/20 for the 
organisations listed in Appendix A to the report be determined in 
accordance with the detailed recommendations set out in Appendix A to the 
report;

2. That the estimated level of discretionary Business Rates Relief to be 
awarded in 2019/20 set out in paragraph 3.26 of the report be noted; and

3. That the Business Rates Retail Discount Guidelines contained in Appendix 
E to the report be approved.

111. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES 

The Cabinet considered a report which proposed to write-off National Non-
Domestic Rates amounting to £160,261.30 where it had not been possible to 
obtain payment because of insolvency, because the ratepayer could not be 
traced or where the debt was otherwise irrecoverable.



CABINET
THURSDAY 24 JANUARY 2019

5

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

RESOLVED:

That the sums shown in exempt Appendix A to the report amounting to 
£160,261.30 be written off as uncollectable.

112. COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS FOR EMPTY AND UNINHABITABLE 
DWELLINGS AND EMPTY PREMIUM 

The Strategic Director (Internal) Services introduced a report, and 
accompanying addendum, which proposed reducing the level of Council Tax 
discount for unoccupied and unfurnished dwellings and for dwellings 
undergoing or requiring major structural repair from 1 April 2019. It was 
proposed to reduce the level of Council Tax discount for unoccupied and 
unfurnished dwellings from 100% for three months to 100% for two months 
and the discount for unoccupied dwellings undergoing or requiring major 
structural repair from 100% for 12 months to 0%. It was also proposed to 
increase the additional charge for dwellings that were unoccupied and 
unfurnished for 2 years or more from 50% to 100%. The existing discounts 
had had the effect of providing a cushion to owners of these dwellings and 
acted as a disincentive for bringing the properties into occupation more 
quickly. The reduction of the discount would help to counter this and support 
the Council’s empty homes strategy. Kent County Council also supported 
reducing empty property discounts and had committed to give those 
authorities who had done so an incentive of 25% of the County’s share of 
additional Council Tax proceeds in 2019/20 (subject to review in future years).

The Cabinet discussed the recommendations and felt that it was important 
that these should support the Council’s overriding concerns to meet housing 
need and to reduce burdens on the homelessness service by discouraging 
properties being left empty. In view of this Members felt that the amount of 
Council Tax discount for unoccupied and unfurnished dwellings should be 
reduced from 100% for three months to 100% for one month rather than for 
two months. This would also align with the approach being proposed by 
Sevenoaks District Council and would fit better with the shared Revenues 
Service.  

RESOLVED:

1. That the Cabinet recommends to the General Assembly of the Council that 
the Council Tax discount for unoccupied and unfurnished dwellings be 
reduced from 100% for three months to 100% for one month;

2. That the Cabinet recommends to the General Assembly of the Council that 
the Council Tax discount for unoccupied dwellings undergoing or requiring 
major structural repair be reduced from 100% for 12 months to 0% for 12 
months; and

3. That the Cabinet recommends to the General Assembly of the Council that 
the additional charge for dwellings that are unoccupied and unfurnished for 
2 years or more be increased from 50% to 100%.



CABINET
THURSDAY 24 JANUARY 2019

6

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

113. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - LOWFIELD STREET 

The Cabinet received a report which proposed names for five new roads as 
part of the Lowfield Street redevelopment to be Brewers, Carnegie, Festival, 
Imperial and Truman. The names had been suggested by the developer 
taking into account local history and surroundings and had been subject to 
consultation with Members, Emergency Services and Royal Mail. The names 
complied with the Council’s policy on Street Naming.

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet approve Brewers, Carnegie, Festival, Imperial and Truman 
as the five new road names for the Lowfield Street development.

114. HOUSING ANNUAL REPORT FOR TENANTS AND LEASEHOLDERS 2018 

The Cabinet was reminded that, under the Government’s regulatory 
framework, the Council was required to complete an annual report to tenants 
and landlords setting out how the housing service was performing and where 
improvements could be made. Members were asked to consider the seventh 
Housing Annual Report for Tenants and Leaseholders which had been 
developed in consultation with the Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum.

The Cabinet welcomed the report and felt that it was well presented and very 
easy to read.

RESOLVED:

That the draft Housing Annual Report for Tenants and Leaseholders 2018, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved.

115. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE 
COUNCIL, CABINET, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS 

The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the proposed calendar of 
meetings for 2019/20 and the provisional calendar for 2020/21 for 
recommendation to the General Assembly of the Council.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2019/20 and the provisional 
calendar of meetings for 2020/21 be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the 
Council for approval.

116. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING ON 11 
DECEMBER 2018 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee held on 
11 December 2018.



CABINET
THURSDAY 24 JANUARY 2019

7

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 11 
December 2018 be noted.

117. AWARD OF REFUSE COLLECTION AND STREET CLEANSING 
CONTRACT 2019 TO 2024 - EXEMPT APPENDIX A 
 (EXEMPT CATEGORY SO46(1)(B) 

RESOLVED:

That, following consideration of the main report (minute 108 refers), the 
contents of the exempt appendix be noted.

118. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A 
 (EXEMPT CATEGORY SO46(1)(B) 

RESOLVED:

That, following consideration of the main report (minute 111 refers), the 
contents of the exempt appendix be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.10 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN





1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 7 March 2019 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

119. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Lloyd.

120. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor J A Kite declared an interest it agenda item 13, Design for 
Ebbsfleet, as he is the Council’s representative on the Ebbsfleet Urban 
Development Corporation Board (minute 126 below refers).

There were no other  declarations of interests.

121. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 24 JANUARY 2019 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 24 January 2019 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.  

122. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

123. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 4 MARCH 2019 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B 
on 4 March 2019 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

124. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES - CHILDREN'S BURIALS & FEES & 
CHARGES 

The Chairman announced that there was a reference to the Cabinet arising 
from a proposed amendment to the Council’s budget from the General 
Assembly of the Council (Budget) meeting held on 25 February 2019. This 
related to waiving the fees charged for child burials. 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 MARCH 2019

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

The report explained that the Council currently did not charge fees for the 
burial of children up to 12 months of age but did charge a fee for burials of 
children between 12 months and 16 years of age. In the past 3 years 14 
children had been buried in Council cemeteries with charges applying in half 
of these sad circumstances. Following discussion at the General Assembly of 
the Council (Budget) meeting it was proposed that all Council fees and 
charges relating to the burial of children resident in the borough under the age 
of 16 should be waived to spare grieving parents this financial burden at such 
a difficult time. It was anticipated that this would in future be funded from the 
Children’s Funeral Fund for England once this became operational and any 
financial impact on the Council would be temporary.  During debate it was 
confirmed that the waiver of fees only applied to public cemeteries for which 
the Council was responsible and would not include private cemeteries or 
those cemeteries for which parish councils were responsible. The Cabinet 
welcomed the proposed amendment to the budget.

RESOLVED:

1. That all Council fees for the burial of children up to 16 years of age who 
were resident in the Borough be waived with effect from 1 April 2019; and

2. That any consequential financial impact to Bereavement Services be met 
from existing resources.  

125. CONSULTATION ON THE KENT MINERALS SITES PLAN AND REVIEW 
OF THE KENT MINERALS AND WASTE LOCAL PLAN 

The Cabinet considered the Council’s proposed response to the latest round 
of public consultation being carried out by Kent County Council (KCC) on its 
publication (Regulation 19 pre-submission) versions of the Kent Minerals 
Sites Plan and the Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan. 
The Head of Regeneration explained that the Council had commented during 
an earlier round of consultation and KCC had amended parts of the Plans 
accordingly.  The previous consultation had included proposed minerals sites 
at Central Road and Joyce Green Quarry, Dartford, to which the Council 
objected.  These sites had not been taken forward so it was recommended 
that the Council should support the proposed minerals sites.  The earlier 
consultation also included changes to the policy for safeguarding mineral 
resources, which could affect Dartford’s ability to achieve objectives set out in 
the Council’s Core Strategy.  The current plan continued to include changes 
to this policy, which KCC intended should apply retrospectively as well as to 
future applications, despite concerns raised by the Council and other 
authorities in Kent, and it was recommended that the Council should maintain 
its objection to this as it could be detrimental to future development. 
The Chairman expressed his thanks to officers for their work on this issue and 
also recorded his appreciation for the support of David Butler, KCC Member 
for Dartford North East, in lobbying for the removal of the proposed mineral 
sites at Central Road and Joyce Green Quarry form the original plan.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 MARCH 2019

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

RESOLVED:
That the Council’s responses to the Kent Minerals Sites Plan and the Early 
Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan, set out in 
Appendices A and B to the report, be endorsed. 

126. DESIGN FOR EBBSFLEET 

The Head of Regeneration informed the Cabinet that the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation (EDC) had prepared a design guidance document 
to assist developers in preparing planning applications within its area and was 
seeking endorsement of the document by the Council as the plan making 
authority for part of its area. As development guidance is part of the plan-
making function the guidance required endorsement by the Council and 
Gravesham Borough Council in order to maximise the weight that could be 
placed on it in decision making. The ‘Design for Ebbsfleet’ document had 
been evaluated to ensure that the Council’s over-arching strategy would not 
be undermined by the application of the design guide and that it was broadly 
compliant with the Council’s development plan policies.

Having previously declared an interest in this item the Chairman, Councillor J 
A Kite, took no part in the vote on this matter.

RESOLVED:

That the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation’s ‘Design for Ebbsfleet’ guide be 
endorsed as compliant with the Council’s development plan policies.

127. HOUSING REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE MEASURED TERM CONTRACT 

The Cabinet considered a report which sought approval to commence the 
tender of the Housing Repairs and Maintenance Measured Term Contract. 
The current contract covered all responsive repairs, planned maintenance and 
capital works to the Council’s 4224 properties and 1309 garages and also 
delivered repairs and improvements to communal areas and external works to 
462 leaseholder properties and was due to end on 31st March 2020.  The 
annual value of the contract was in the region of £7M per annum (£2.5M for 
reactive, voids, and out-of-hours repairs and £4.5M for capital and disabled 
adaptations works) and it was proposed to combine these works into a single 
5 year contract to make the contract more attractive to potential tenderers and 
to generate efficiency savings for the Council with options to extend the 
contract for two further terms. The total estimated contract value could 
therefore be £108M over a fifteen year period to be met from the Housing 
Revenue Account.

The Strategic Director (External Resources) explained that this was one of the 
biggest contracts offered by the Council and the procurement process was 
therefore designed to ensure that the Council received an excellent service. 
The Cabinet Advisory Panel (CAP) had questioned whether the duration of 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 MARCH 2019

4

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

the proposed contract was appropriate for this type of contract and the Head 
of Housing had explained that there were no set views about this among 
procurement professionals but a contract of this duration was not unusual and 
there were clear break clauses which meant that it could be ended quickly if 
this proved to be necessary. Contracts offered on a short timescale tended to 
attract high price tenders so it was a question of striking a good balance. CAP 
had also asked whether Brexit would have any impact on the procurement 
and was advised that all of the current requirements were now enshrined in 
UK legislation so that leaving the EU would have no impact on the process. 

The Chairman asked for more information on the consultation process and it 
was explained that this would include the Residents’ Forum, Councillors and 
other key stakeholders with the intention of reporting the outcome of the 
tender process to Cabinet in December 2019 in time for the new contract to 
start in April 2020.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Front Line Services, Customer Champion & 
Housing welcomed the process and hoped that this would deliver an excellent 
result.   

RESOLVED:

That, subject to compliance with EU procurement rules, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) be authorised to tender the Housing Repairs and 
Maintenance Contract and enter into a contract with the successful bidder on 
terms to be agreed with the Head of Legal Services to commence on 1 April 
2020.

128. DRAFT MAJOR WORKS AND SERVICE CHARGES POLICY FOR 
LEASEHOLDERS 

The Cabinet considered the proposed draft Major Works and Service Charges 
Policy for Leaseholders which set out the terms on which the Council would 
seek to recover major works costs incurred on leasehold properties by 
recharging respective leaseholders. The policy contained information for 
leaseholders on charges, payment options, legislative information and types 
of major works and attempted to balance the Council’s financial requirements, 
including cash flow issues, whilst allowing fair and transparent repayment 
terms for leaseholders.

The Strategic Director (External Services) explained that the report had drawn 
together legislation and guidance into a single policy and was designed to 
help leaseholders by being informative and clear over mutual obligations. 
There were two types of leaseholders, those who had purchased a leasehold 
property as an investment opportunity and those who had purchased the 
property to live in themselves. The Council recognised that leaseholders 
required sufficient notice of major works and, although it was not possible to 
give a guaranteed timeframe in practice leaseholders received at least 3 
years advance notice of the timing of major works. It was also recognised that 
there were circumstances in which it might be appropriate for leaseholders to 
given more flexible payment options and the policy sought to be fair and 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 MARCH 2019

5

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

transparent in this respect. These flexible options would only apply to 
properties where the leaseholder was resident rather than where the lease 
had been purchased as an investment. 

RESOLVED:

That the draft Major Works and Services Charges Policy for Leaseholders, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved.

129. DRAFT POLICY FOR OFFERING  ACCOMMODATION IN DISCHARGE OF 
THE COUNCIL'S HOMELESSNESS FUNCTIONS 

The Cabinet considered the Council’s Draft Policy for Offering 
Accommodation in Discharge of the Council’s Homelessness Functions. This 
related to accommodation of homeless households in long term temporary 
accommodation and private rented sector accommodation where there was a 
housing duty upon the Council under the relevant homeless legislation and 
applied to households placed both inside and outside the Borough. 

The Strategic Director (External Services) explained that the policy met the 
requirements of legislation and recent case-law and had been drafted to 
ensure that the Council had robust and transparent procedures in place to 
meet the growing demands on its services.

The Cabinet welcomed the clarity of the policy and commended the work of 
officers in the Housing Department.

RESOLVED:

That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, the draft Policy for 
Offering Accommodation in Discharge of the Council’s Homelessness 
Functions, attached at Appendix A to the report, be endorsed.

130. WRITE OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES 

The Cabinet considered a report which proposed to write-off National Non-
Domestic Rates amounting to £77,939.84 where it had not been possible to 
obtain payment because of insolvency, because the ratepayer could not be 
traced or where the debt was otherwise irrecoverable.

RESOLVED:

That the sums shown in exempt Appendix A in the confidential part of the 
report, amounting to £77,939.84, be written-off as uncollectable.   

131. WRITE-OFF OF HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENTS 

The Cabinet considered a report which sought approval to write-off Housing 
Benefit Overpayments amounting to £37,413.11 where recovery was 
prohibited, not appropriate or where the customer had absconded.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 MARCH 2019

6

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

RESOLVED:

That the sum of £37,413.11, shown in exempt Appendix A to the report in the 
closed part of the agenda, be written-off as irrecoverable. 

132. HOMELESSNESS UPDATE - HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 2017 

The Cabinet received a report which provided an update on the impact of the 
provisions of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 on the Council’s Housing 
Solutions Service since its implementation from April 2018.

The 2017 Act imposed several new duties, many of which required a change 
in working practices and additional resources. The main changes were:

 More focus on preventing homelessness i.e. earlier and proactive 
casework

 Duty to prevent and relieve homelessness for up to 56 days or longer 
including those threatened with homelessness even where the applicant 
or household is not priority need or is intentionally homeless or has no 
local connection 

 Duty to assess and produce personal housing plans for each 
applicant/household

 Duty on identified public bodies to notify the local authority if they become 
aware of a person or household who is homeless or at risk of 
homelessness

 New rights to review homeless decisions for applicants
 Duty to provide additional choices for care leavers

Although the Council received New Burdens funding from Government to 
implement the changes this was significantly lower than the amount required 
to implement all the necessary changes. The Housing Options and Private 
Sector Team was reviewed and restructured in order to meet the demands 
placed upon the Council by the 2017 Act and a triage approach adopted to 
enable decisions to be made quickly and effectively thereby giving greater 
opportunity to prevent homelessness earlier. A ‘Multi-Agency Hub’ was 
created within the Housing Solutions Team to enable easier collaboration with 
key partners and agencies and had proved so successful that the 
Government shares the model as good practice at national events. The new 
duties also presented significant challenges which were being addressed 
successfully and the Council was working hard to prevent homelessness and 
to fulfil its obligations under the Act. However, since the introduction of the Act 
in April 2018 there had been a 153% increase in homeless applications and, 
despite a 40% reduction in the number of households in temporary 
accommodation this had not been reflected in reduced spending on temporary 
accommodation, and the increase in the number of preventions had resulted 
in an increase in spending on homelessness prevention. The financial 
implications were detailed in the report. 

The Strategic Director (External Services) explained that the Council;s 
approach to homelessness was working well and that the number of 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 MARCH 2019

7

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

households in temporary accommodation had fallen significantly over the past 
couple of years and cited the success of Council interventions. There had 
been important changes in how the Council tackled homelessness prevention 
which had been necessary to meet the challenges presented by increasing 
demand and changes introduced under the Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 and the Council was seen as a leading innovator and exemplar. The 
Council had received a significant increase in homeless applications and 
whilst delivering more homelessness preventions and being able to reduce 
placements in nightly paid accommodation this unfortunately did not translate 
into a reduction in spending and budgets were under considerable pressure. 

The Cabinet welcomed the policy, commended the work, enthusiasm and 
innovation of officers in the Housing Department, and the work with external 
partners and the success of the multi-agency hub.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted.

133. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2018-19 

The Cabinet considered a report which detailed progress against the latest set 
of Corporate Plan key actions and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 
2018/19.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the key action and performance monitoring reports 
attached at Appendices A and B to the report be noted.

134. REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 
38: AWARD OF THE CONTRACT FOR THE INSPECTION AND 
MAINTENANCE OF PLAYGROUNDS 

The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the actions of the Managing 
Director, taken under delegated authority and in consultation with the Cabinet 
Chairman in accordance with Standing Oder 38(2)(a), in relation to the award 
of the contract for the Inspection and Maintenance of Playgrounds 2019-2024 
to Continental Landscapes Ltd. Urgent action was required as operational 
preparations for the implementation of the new contract, including TUPE, had 
to be completed by 31 March 2019.

RESOLVED:

That the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the award of 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 MARCH 2019

8

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

the contract for Inspection and Maintenance of Playgrounds 2019-2024 to 
Continental Landscapes Ltd, be noted.

135. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A - EXEMPT CATEGORY SO46(1)(B) 

RESOLVED:

That following discussion of the main report (minute 130), the exempt 
appendix be noted.

136. WRITE-OFF OF HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENTS - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A - EXEMPT CATEGORY SO46(1)(B) 

RESOLVED:

That following discussion of the main report (minute 131), the exempt 
appendix be noted.

The meeting closed at 7.44 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 11 April 2019 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

137. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

The Chairman welcomed Mrs Doreen Coleman to the meeting, which would 
be Councillor P F Coleman’s last Cabinet meeting after an illustrious career of 
service on the Council dating back 43 years.

There were no apologies for absence.

138. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

139. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 7 MARCH 2019 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 7 March 2019 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.

140. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

141. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 8 APRIL 2019 

No items had been drawn down for consideration by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel and the meeting had therefore been cancelled.

142. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.



CABINET
THURSDAY 11 APRIL 2019

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

143. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - LAND AT THE JUNCTION OF 
CRAYLANDS LANE AND LONDON ROAD 

The Cabinet received a report which proposed that two new roads, which 
were part of the development at the junction of Craylands Lane and London 
Road, should be named Bazley and Cresswell. The proposed names, which 
tied in with existing street names in the area and maintained a historic link, 
had been subject to consultation with Members, Emergency Services, Royal 
Mail, the local Parish Council, Kent Police and the developer. The names 
complied with the Council’s policy on Street Naming and the responses to the 
consultation received from Members, Kent Police and Royal Mail favoured the 
proposed names. There had been no further responses to the consultation. 

RESOLVED:

That the two new road names for the development at the junction of 
Craylands Lane and London Road be approved as Bazley and Cresswell.

144. ACTION UNDER SO 38:  A2 BEAN AND EBBSFLEET JUNCTION 
IMPROVEMENTS: ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT, SIDE 
ROAD ORDERS, COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDERS AND SLIP ROAD 
AND ROUNDABOUT ORDERS 

The Cabinet considered a report which detailed delegated action taken by the 
Managing Direction under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in consultation with the 
Cabinet Chairman, to submit the Council’s response to the Highways England 
consultation on proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet road 
junctions. Urgent action was required in order to submit a response by the 28 
March 2019 deadline for responding to the consultation. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Cabinet:

(i) notes the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in 
relation to the Council’s response to the Highways England 
consultation on proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and 
Ebbsfleet junctions;

(ii) grants delegated authority to the Head of Regeneration and the 
Development Manager to represent the Council’s case with 
regard to the Public Inquiry into the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet 
junction improvements, limited specifically to Highways Act 1980 
matters, including agreeing a Statement of Common Ground 
with Highways England and any ancillary matters arising from 
the Council’s response to the consultation, but excluding 
matters related to the compulsory purchase of part of Council 
owned land at Spirits Rest Horse Sanctuary; and 



CABINET
THURSDAY 11 APRIL 2019

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

2. That a report be presented to Cabinet in due course, on the compulsory 
purchase of part of Council owned land at Spirits Rest Horse Sanctuary, 
dealing specifically with the compensation elements and the relocation of 
the displaced tenant’s animals to alternative grazing land in the Borough.

145. COUNCILLOR P F COLEMAN 

In closing the Cabinet meeting, the Chairman reflected upon Councillor 
Coleman’s service to the Council which had begun in 1976. He thanked 
Councillor Coleman for his enormous contribution to the Council and the 
people of Dartford, during which time he had served as Deputy Group Leader 
among other senior roles.

Councillor Coleman reflected upon his time as a local Councillor, the many 
characters that he had worked with and the changes that he had seen 
throughout that time and thanked Members and Officers for their support over 
the years.     

The meeting closed at 7.07 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN





1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 13 June 2019 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow
Councillor R J Wells

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Councillor Kite recorded his immense appreciation for the contribution made 
by Councillor Keith Kelly to the work of the Cabinet and welcomed two new 
members to the Cabinet, Councillors Steve Brown and Richard Wells.   

An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Shippam.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interests.

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 11 APRIL 2019 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 11 April 2019 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.

4. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

5. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 10 JUNE 2019 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B 
on 10 June 2019 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout the meeting

6. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 JUNE 2019

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

7. LAND AT STONE LODGE - APPROPRIATION FOR PLANNING 
PURPOSES 

The Cabinet considered the Council’s proposed appropriation of land at Stone 
Lodge, Stone for planning purposes and the statutory processes to be 
applied, including the requirement to advertise the intention to appropriate 
‘open space land’ to another purpose and the consideration of any objections. 
The report outlined the legal considerations, an assessment of the impacts to 
the various affected parties, an assessment of whether the appropriation was 
in the public interest and the benefits to the local community that would arise 
as a result.

The report informed Members of proposals for the 32ha site at Stone Lodge 
and explained that, since a number of individual homeowners now owned 
land previously in the hands of a single party, the Council intended to deploy 
section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 which provides that if a 
local authority appropriates land for planning purposes, this will override any 
restrictive covenants which affect the land. 

As the land at Stone Lodge was held for open space purposes, the Council 
was legally required to advertise the appropriation of the open space land for 
planning purposes. Any objection to the appropriation would be reported to 
Cabinet. The use of appropriation powers needed to be justified by meeting a 
clear public interest test. Paragraphs 3.14 to 3.16 of the report detailed how 
the proposed development fell within the planning policy framework for the 
area and the steps taken to minimise the impacts of the development on 
neighbouring properties. 

The Cabinet was being asked to take an ‘in principle’ decision to appropriate 
the land for planning purposes, to advertise the intention to appropriate in a 
local newspaper and then, subject to consideration of any representations 
received, to formalise the appropriation.

The Cabinet noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had endorsed the 
recommendations contained in the report.   

RESOLVED:

1. That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, Cabinet agrees in principle 
that it is no longer necessary to hold the land at Stone Lodge (edged red on the 
plan at Appendix A to the report) for the purposes for which it is currently held (i.e. 
recreational purposes) and that it is therefore minded to exercise the Council’s 
statutory powers pursuant to sections 122(1) and (2A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to appropriate the land at Stone Lodge for planning purposes (within the 
meaning of section 246(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990); and

2. That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to advertise the 
Council’s intention to appropriate ‘open space land’ at Stone Lodge to 
another purpose and that in the event of no objections being received, the 
Managing Director, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, be 
authorised to take all necessary action to formalise the appropriation of the 
land at Stone Lodge for planning purposes.



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 JUNE 2019

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

8. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - EASTERN QUARRY PHASE 6B 

The Cabinet received a report which proposed names for five new roads on 
Phase 6B at the Eastern Quarry development to be Betts, Boyce, Lancaster, 
Robins and Thomas. The proposed names were historically linked to a local 
church and had been subject to consultation with Members, Emergency 
Services, Royal Mail and the developer. The names complied with the 
Council’s policy on Street Naming and suitable suffixes would be chosen once 
the final road names had been approved.

The Cabinet noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had endorsed the 
recommendations contained in the report.

RESOLVED:

That the five new road names for Phase 6B at the Eastern Quarry 
development be approved as Betts, Boyce, Lancaster, Robins and Thomas.

9. DARTFORD HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION ACT 1995 - MAY 2019 
REPORT 

The Cabinet considered a report which outlined the revised version of the 
existing statutory guidance on the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 
(HECA) and met the obligation on the Council to publish a report detailing 
progress against the requirements of the Act at two yearly intervals. The May 
2019 report, attached at Appendix A to the report, detailed progress made 
around Home Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty in the Borough and 
answered specific questions asked by the Government Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS). The report also outlined new 
actions and how the Council planned to measure progress along with recent 
changes around the Energy Company Obligation.

The Cabinet noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had endorsed the 
recommendations contained in the report.

RESOLVED:

That the content of the May 2019 progress report on compliance with the 
Home Energy Conservation Act 1995, attached at Appendix A to the report, 
be noted.

10. CORPORATE PLAN KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
REPORT - 4TH QUARTER 

The Cabinet Advisory Panel considered a report which detailed the progress 
with the latest set of Corporate Plan key actions and performance indicators 
for quarter 4 of 2018/19. The Portfolio Holder for Arts and Culture sought 
clarification over when the Council might learn the outcome of the joint bid 
with Gravesham and the EDC for a major arts programme across the area 



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 JUNE 2019

4

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

and was advised that this was expected to take a couple of months. She also 
queried the large number of fixed penalty notices issued for litter and dog 
fouling and was advised that this was a cumulative total for the past 3 years; 
around 74% of these fines were paid without further action being necessary 
and the remainder were pursued through the courts. The level of recidivism 
was extremely low. An explanation was also provided on the meaning of 
‘agile’ working.

The Cabinet noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had endorsed the 
recommendations contained in the report.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the key action and performance indicator monitoring 
reports, attached at Appendices A and B, to the report be noted.

The meeting closed at 7.20 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	11 Work Plan for the General Assembly of the Council 2019/20
	12 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018/19
	Appendix A Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-19
	Appendix A to Scrutiny Annual Report

	14 Reserved Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 07/03/2019 Cabinet
	Minutes

	Minutes Public Pack, 11/04/2019 Cabinet
	Minutes

	Minutes Public Pack, 13/06/2019 Cabinet
	Minutes



